FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 12/3/2021 8:57 AM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/3/2021 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

100439-7

Supreme Court No. (to be set)
Court of Appeals No. 54505-5-II
IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Detention of

Randy Smith,

Appellant/Petitioner

VS.

State of Washington, Respondent

Thurston County Superior Court Cause No. 18-2-02803-2 The Honorable Judge Christopher Lanese

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Jodi R. Backlund Manek R. Mistry Attorneys for Appellant

BACKLUND & MISTRY

P.O. Box 6490 Olympia, WA 98507 (360) 339-4870 backlundmistry@gmail.com

INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Supreme Court should accept review and reverse Randy Smith's civil commitment order. The trial court's instructions included an improper comment on the evidence. The Court of Appeals should have reviewed this claim. Instructions containing judicial comments can always be considered for the first time on appeal. The court's refusal to do so conflicts with Supreme Court precedent and prior decisions of the Court of Appeals. The Supreme Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2).

In addition, the Supreme Court should determine if the legislature intended different meanings when it differentiated between a "crime of sexual violence" and a "sexually violent offense" in Chapter 71.09 RCW. The trial court relied on pattern jury instructions that conflate these two terms. This led to the court's improper judicial comment. Mr. Smith's arguments raise significant constitutional questions and issues of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4).

DECISION BELOW AND ISSUES PRESENTED

Petitioner Randy Smith, the appellant below, asks the Supreme Court to review the unpublished opinion entered on November 9, 2021. This case presents two issues:

- 1. Did the court's instructions include a judicial comment because they conflated the phrase "crime of sexual violence" with the phrase "sexually violent offense"?
- 2. Did the Court of Appeals erroneously refuse to review the trial court's unconstitutional comment on the evidence?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

When the State petitioned to have him committed, Randy Smith arranged for sex offender treatment with a certified provider. He also secured supported housing with structure and accountability. RP (1/15/20) 806-843; RP (8/16/20) 871-964. At Mr. Smith's commitment trial, the State's own expert called the plan for treatment and housing "excellent." RP (1/15/20) 748.

At trial, the State was required to prove that Mr. Smith had been convicted of a "crime of sexual violence." CP 1-2.

2

¹ A copy of the opinion is attached.

The court's elements instruction directed jurors to determine if Mr. Smith "has been convicted of one crime of sexual violence, namely Rape of a Child in the First Degree." CP 785. The court also told jurors that "Sexual violence'... means: Rape of a Child in the First Degree..." CP 789.

The jury found that Mr. Smith met criteria for commitment. CP 801. He appealed, arguing, *inter alia*, that the trial court's instructions included a comment on the evidence.

The Court of Appeals affirmed, concluding that Mr. Smith had not preserved this claim. Opinion, pp. 8-9. According to the court, Mr. Smith's argument could not be reviewed because he had not "demonstrated that the outcome of the trial would have been different had the jury been instructed differently." Opinion, pp. 8-9.

Mr. Smith now seeks review of that decision.

ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

I. IMPROPER JUDICIAL COMMENTS MAY BE REVIEWED FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL.

The court's instructions included a comment on the evidence. The Court of Appeals refused to address the error. It

burdened Mr. Smith with proving an effect on the outcome of trial. Opinion, pp. 8-9.

But judicial comments can always be reviewed for the first time on appeal. The burden is on the State to affirmatively show that no prejudice could have resulted. Because the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with Supreme Court precedent, this court should grant review.

A. Any judicial comment that appears in the record amounts to manifest error affecting a constitutional right.

Judicial comments "are explicitly prohibited by the Washington Constitution" and thus "involv[e]...manifest constitutional error." *State v. Levy*, 156 Wn.2d 709, 719–20, 132 P.3d 1076 (2006). Claims regarding improper judicial comments "are properly raised for the first time on appeal." *State v. Jackman*, 156 Wn.2d 736, 743, 132 P.3d 136 (2006), *as corrected* (Feb. 14, 2007) (citing *Levy*); *see also State v. Besabe*, 166 Wn.App. 872, 880, 271 P.3d 387 (2012) ("Because the constitution expressly prohibits any judicial comment on the evidence, a claimed error based upon such a comment involves

a manifest constitutional error that may be challenged for the first time on appeal.").

Although the Court of Appeals suggests otherwise, *Levy* and *Jackman* are entirely consistent with this court's "subsequent cases" regarding manifest error. *See* Opinion, p. 8 n. 5 (suggesting that "subsequent cases have clarified" the manifest error standard). The appellate court's refusal to review Mr. Smith's claim rests on a misinterpretation of the "actual prejudice" standard, which requires "a plausible showing [that] the error had practical and identifiable consequences" at trial. Opinion, p. 8 (internal quotation marks and citation omitted, alteration in original).

Despite this formulation, the manifest error determination does not rest on the *impact* of the error. *State v. O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d 91, 99-100, 217 P.3d 756 (2009), *as corrected* (Jan. 21, 2010). Instead, "the focus of the actual prejudice must be on whether the error is so obvious on the record that the error warrants appellate review." *Id*. This approach "ensure[s] [that] the actual prejudice and harmless error analyses are separate." *Id*.

An error is manifest if the necessary facts appear in the record. *Id.* By contrast, "[i]f the facts necessary to adjudicate the claimed error are not in the record on appeal, no actual prejudice is shown and the error is not manifest." *Id.*, at 99 (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).

Improper judicial comments contained in jury instructions will always appear in the record.² This is the basis for *Levy's* unqualified pronouncement that judicial comments "involv[e] "manifest constitutional error." *Levy*, 156 Wn.2d at 719–20.

B. The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with Supreme Court precedent and other appellate court decisions.

Instead of following *Levy* and finding the error "manifest," the Court of Appeals erroneously required Mr. Smith to prove "that the outcome of the trial would have been different had the jury been instructed differently." Opinion, pp. 8-9.

² The same is true of oral comments, except in cases where the court addresses jurors outside the courtroom or when proceedings go unrecorded.

This turns the manifest error standard on its head.

Appellants claiming manifest error are not required to prove an impact on the verdict. Instead, an appellant need only identify facts in the record supporting the claimed error.

The manifest error standard "should not be confused with the requirements for establishing an actual violation of a constitutional right or for establishing lack of prejudice under a harmless error analysis." *State v. Lamar*, 180 Wn.2d 576, 583, 327 P.3d 46 (2014). By focusing on the adequacy of the factual record, the manifest error standard "ensure[s] [that] the actual prejudice and harmless error analyses are separate." *Id*.

An appellant claiming manifest error need not show an impact on the verdict. Instead, the burden is on the State to show harmless error because judicial comments are presumed prejudicial. *Jackman*, 156 Wn.2d at 743. A comment on the evidence requires reversal "unless the record affirmatively shows that no prejudice could have resulted." *Id.* Thus, the impact of the error is irrelevant to the manifest error determination. The error's effect comes into play at the harmless error stage.

The error here is "manifest" because all necessary facts appear in the record. *O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d 99-100. It is "truly of constitutional dimension" because it violates the prohibition against judicial comments. *Id.*, at 98. The Court of Appeals should have addressed the error.

The Court of Appeals ignored *Levy, Jackman*, and the manifest error standard articulated in *O'Hara* and *Lamar*. The court's decision also conflicts with Court of Appeals' decisions such as *Besabe*, *supra*. The Supreme Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2).

II. THE TRIAL COURT COMMENTED ON THE EVIDENCE AND REMOVED AN ELEMENT FROM THE JURY'S CONSIDERATION.

The trial court instructed jurors that Mr. Smith's prior conviction automatically qualified as a "crime of sexual violence." This removed the issue from the jury's consideration and amounted to an unconstitutional comment on the evidence.

A. By using different terms, the legislature differentiated between "crime[s] of sexual violence" and "sexually violent offense[s]."

The legislature adopted two different phrases applicable to the predicate conviction underlying any civil commitment proceeding. The initial threshold for filing a petition is a prior conviction for a "sexually violent offense." RCW 71.09.020(18); RCW 71.09.030(1). Then, at a civil commitment trial, jurors must determine if the person has been convicted of "a crime of sexual violence." RCW 71.09.020(19).

Where the legislature uses different language in the same statute, different meanings are intended. *State v. Costich*, 152 Wn.2d 463, 475-476, 98 P.3d 795 (2004). The term "sexually violent offense" is concretely defined by a list of specific offenses. RCW 71.09.020(18). The term "crime of sexual violence" is not defined.

Under the statutory scheme, civil commitment must rest on a prior conviction meeting two separate tests.³ First, the

³ The statute also covers certain charges that do not result in conviction, such as those resulting in a finding of incompetence

conviction must be for one of the enumerated offenses in RCW 71.09.020(18). A prior conviction meeting this threshold triggers notice to the prosecuting agency (prior to release from prison), establishes the proper jurisdiction for a civil commitment petition, and allows the appropriate agency to file a petition. RCW 71.09.025(1)(a); RCW 71.09.030.

Second, a jury must find that the conviction was for a "crime of sexual violence," which is one element of the criteria for commitment RCW 71.09.020(19); RCW 71.09.060(1). Such a finding must be based on evidence produced at trial.

The reason for the two separate terms is apparent from the statutory scheme. Questions involving screening, jurisdiction, and notice rest on the defined list of crimes that qualify as "sexually violent offenses." RCW 71.09.020(18). No factfinding is required to perform these functions. Instead, decisions can be made simply by referring to the list of offenses. RCW 71.09.020(18).

or a verdict of not guilty by reason of insanity. *See* RCW 71.09.030(1)(c) and (d).

By contrast, indefinite commitment following trial requires a factual determination that the predicate offense qualifies as a "crime of sexual violence." RCW 71.09.020(19); RCW 71.09.060(1). The jury may not rely on a list of offenses but must examine the facts and determine whether the offense qualifies as a "crime of sexual violence."

The legislature's use of two different terms is not meaningless. Both terms play a role in commitment proceedings: the State screens candidates for civil commitment by referring to a list of offenses; the jury assesses the prior conviction and determines if the person meets criteria based on the facts produced at trial.

_

⁴ The statute does not define this phrase; thus, trial courts have discretion to fashion an appropriate definition or to leave the phrase undefined. *See Matter of Det. of Urlacher*, 6 Wn.App. 2d 725, 742, 427 P.3d 662 (2018) ("Whether words used in an instruction require definition is a matter of discretion to be exercised by the trial court.")

B. The court removed a factual determination from the jury by telling jurors that Mr. Smith's prior conviction qualified as a "crime of sexual violence."

Mr. Smith could only be committed if the jury found that he had previously been convicted of a "crime of sexual violence." RCW 71.09.020(19); RCW 71.09.060(1); *see also* CP 785. This was a question for the jury, for the jury is tasked with determining if he met criteria for commitment based on the facts introduced at trial. RCW 71.09.020(19); RCW 71.09.060(1).

Despite this, the court explicitly told jurors that Mr. Smith's prior conviction qualified as a "crime of sexual violence." CP 785, 789. One instruction directed jurors to determine if "Randy Smith has been convicted of [a] crime of sexual violence, *namely Rape of a Child in the First Degree.*" CP 785 (emphasis added). A later instruction indicated that ""[s]exual violence'... means: Rape of a Child in the First Degree." CP 789.

These instructions erroneously told jurors that the State's obligation to prove a "crime of sexual violence" had been met as a matter of law. CP 785. By removing a factual issue from

the jury, the court commented on the evidence in violation of Wash. Const. art. IV, §16. *See State v. Becker*, 132 Wn.2d 54, 65, 935 P.2d 1321 (1997).

C. The record does not affirmatively show that no prejudice could have resulted from the error.

Judicial comments are presumed prejudicial. *Jackman*, 156 Wn.2d at 743; *Levy*, 156 Wn.2d at 725. A comment on the evidence requires reversal unless the record affirmatively shows that no prejudice could have resulted. *Levy*, 156 Wn.2d at 725.

This is a higher standard than normally applied to constitutional errors. *Id.* The State does not meet its burden merely because the comment addressed an undisputed element supported by testimony and corroborating evidence. *Jackman*, 156 Wn.2d at 745.

For example, in *Jackman* the defendant was charged with crimes against four minor boys. *Id.*, at 740. The children provided their birth dates in testimony, the State introduced corroborating evidence for three of the four boys, and the defendant did not contest the children's ages at trial. *Id.*, at 740, 743, 745. Each "to-convict" instruction included the minor

victim's initials and date of birth (i.e., that the defendant offended against "B.L.E., DOB 04/21/1985.") *Id.*, at 740-741. The defendant did not object to these instructions. *Id.*, at 741.

Despite the undisputed evidence and the absence of any objection, the Supreme Court reversed. The court found the date-of-birth references improperly commented on the evidence. *Id.*, at 744-745. It concluded that the record did not affirmatively show that no prejudice could have resulted. *Id.*

Likewise, in this case the record does not affirmatively show that no prejudice could have resulted from the improper comment. *Id.* Without the instructions, "it is still conceivable that the jury could have determined that" Mr. Smith's prior offense did not qualify as a crime of sexual violence. *Id.*, at 745.

The court improperly commented on the evidence in violation of Wash. Const. art. IV, §16. The record does not affirmatively show that prejudice was impossible. *Id.; see also Levy*, 156 Wn.2d at 725. The commitment order must be vacated, and the case remanded for a new trial with proper instructions.

D. This case presents significant constitutional questions and issues of substantial public interest.

This case involves the proper interpretation of key provisions of the civil commitment scheme. The trial court's instructions conflated two separate terms chosen by the legislature to describe prior convictions. The language used by the court was drawn from pattern instructions. *See* 6A Wash. Prac., Wash. Pattern Jury Instr. Civ. (7th ed.), WPI 365.10 and WPI 365.16.

The pattern instructions contain a comment on the evidence. Relying on these instructions, the trial court removed from the jury the question of whether Mr. Smith's prior conviction qualified as a "crime of sexual violence."

The Supreme Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4). Mr. Smith's arguments involve the interpretation of Chapter 71.09 RCW and the constitutionality of pattern jury instructions. Accordingly, this case involves significant constitutional questions and issues of substantial public interest.

CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals improperly refused to review Mr.

Smith's judicial comment claim. Its opinion conflicts with

Supreme Court precedent and other published decisions of the

Court of Appeals. Furthermore, this case presents significant

constitutional questions and issues of substantial public interest.

The Supreme Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b). The commitment order must be reversed, and the case remanded for a new commitment trial with proper instructions.