FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/27/2022 1:09 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 1004397

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Detention of Randy Smith:

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

v.

RANDY SMITH,

Petitioner.

STATE'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

KELLY A. PARADIS Assistant Attorney General WSBA #47175 / OID #91094 800 Fifth Ave., Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 Ph.: (206) 389-3001

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

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. Review of This Case is Unwarranted Because the Court of Appeals Considered the Merits of Smith's Claim

The Court of Appeals concluded that Smith waived his claim that the jury instructions amounted to an improper judicial comment because Smith did not object to the instructions below and he failed to show a manifest error affecting a constitutional right under RAP 2.5(a)(3). Slip op. at 7-10. The court noted that Smith testified that he raped the three-year-old victim, was convicted of Rape of a Child in the First Degree, and provided graphic details about the offense. *Id.* at 9; CP at 510-11. It thus concluded that Smith did not make a plausible showing that the allegedly erroneous instruction had practical and identifiable consequences in the trial of the case. Slip op. at 9-10.

Smith claims that the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with other cases stating that improper judicial comments are manifest constitutional errors that can be raised for

the first time on appeal and that review is thus warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (b)(2). Pet. for Review at 4-6, 8. In support of that assertion, he relies on *State v. Levy*, 156 Wn.2d 709, 719-20, 132 P.3d 1076 (2006); *State v. Jackman*, 156 Wn.2d 736, 743, 132 P.3d 136 (2006); and *State v. Besabe*, 166 Wn. App. 872, 880, 271 P.3d 387 (2012).

It is true that the cases cited by Smith state that improper judicial comments are manifest constitutional errors and can be raised for the first time on appeal. But as the Court of Appeals pointed out, subsequent cases from this Court have emphasized that RAP 2.5(a)(3) "does not permit *all* asserted constitutional claims to be raised for the first time on appeal, but only certain questions of 'manifest' constitutional magnitude." *State v. Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d 918, 934, 155 P.3d 125 (2007); *see also State v. O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d 91, 100, 217 P.3d 756 (2009) (abrogating per se rule that an instruction misstating the law of self-defense always constitutes a manifest constitutional error); Slip op. at 8 n. 5.

In those and other recent cases, this Court explained the important policy considerations behind waiver and behind construing RAP 2.5(a) narrowly. It noted that the general rule is that courts will not consider unpreserved errors raised for the first time on review. *State v. A.M.*, 194 Wn.2d 33, 38, 448 P.3d 35 (2019). This rule serves important policy considerations, as it "encourages parties to make timely objections, gives the trial judge an opportunity to address an issue before it becomes an error on appeal, and promotes the important policies of economy and finality." *State v. Kalebaugh*, 183 Wn.2d 578, 583, 355 P.3d 253 (2015); *see also O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d at 98.

And it noted that RAP 2.5(a)(3), which provides an exception to this rule when the claimed error is a "manifest error affecting a constitutional right," "strikes a careful policy balance." *Kalebaugh*, 183 Wn.2d at 583. On the one hand, it allows appellate courts to remedy "errors that result in serious injustice to an accused." *Id.* But "[a]t the same time, if applied too broadly RAP 2.5(a)(3) will devalue objections at trial and

deprive judges of the opportunity to correct errors as they happen." *Id.* Thus, the exception "actually is a narrow one, affording review only of certain constitutional questions." *Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d at 934 (internal quotation marks omitted).

It is unclear to what extent the holding from *Levy* and *Jackman* survives these subsequent cases clarifying the applicability and scope of RAP 2.5(a). The reasoning of the Court of Appeals that allegedly improper judicial comments should be considered on a case-by-case basis is consistent with the sound policy reasons articulated by this Court about the narrow application of RAP 2.5(a).

Regardless, this case is not a good vehicle for resolving any potential ambiguity in RAP 2.5(a) case law. Even if the Court of Appeals erroneously applied RAP 2.5(a) to Smith's claim, review of this case is still unwarranted because the Court of Appeals nevertheless addressed the claim on its merits. And not only is the decision in this case unpublished but, as discussed

next, the Court of Appeals relied on directly applicable precedent and reached the correct result.

- B. The Court of Appeals Correctly Concluded that the Jury Instructions Identifying Rape of a Child in the First Degree as a "Crime of Sexual Violence" Accurately Stated the Law and Did Not Improperly Comment on the Evidence
 - 1. It is well-settled that there is no material difference between the terms "crime of sexual violence" and "sexually violent offense"

Review of this unpublished case is unnecessary because the Court of Appeals properly concluded that the jury instructions accurately stated the law and did not improperly comment on the evidence. Slip op. at 10 n. 8. The Court's decision is consistent with other decisions that have addressed this issue and have confirmed that the instructions used in this case are proper.

"A jury instruction that does no more than accurately state the law pertaining to an issue . . . does not constitute an impermissible comment on the evidence by the trial judge." *State v. Woods*, 143 Wn.2d 561, 591, 23 P.3d 1046 (2001). An

appellate court reviews jury instructions de novo to determine if the trial court has improperly commented on the evidence. *See Levy*, 156 Wn.2d at 721.

In an initial commitment trial, the State must prove that the individual meets the definition of a "sexually violent predator," which, among other things, requires proof that the person has been convicted of or charged with a "crime of sexual violence." RCW 71.09.060(1); RCW 71.09.020(19). Although the term "crime of sexual violence" is not defined in the statute, the statute defines the term "sexually violent offense." RCW 71.09.020(18). The Court of Appeals has consistently rejected arguments that there is a material distinction between the two terms, holding that crimes expressly listed in the statutory definition of "sexually violent offense" necessarily also qualify as "crimes of sexual violence." These cases are well-settled, as this Court has consistently denied review of those decisions.

Division One first reached this conclusion in *In re*Detention of Coppin, 157 Wn. App. 537, 551-54, 238 P.3d 1192

(2010), review denied, 170 Wn.2d 1025, 249 P.3d 181 (2011). There, the court concluded that Coppin's convictions for first degree statutory rape provided sufficient evidence that he had been convicted of a "crime of sexual violence." *Coppin*, 157 Wn. App. at 553. The court explained that statutory provisions must be harmonized and statutes must be construed as a whole. *Id.* And it reasoned that because the definition of "sexually violent offense" lists certain enumerated crimes including statutory rape, it would be "absurd" to conclude that those same crimes are not also "crimes of sexual violence." Id. The court expressly rejected the argument that the terms must have different meanings, stating that "there is no material difference between the term 'violent' used in subsection [18]² and the term 'violence' used in subsection [19]." *Id*.

More recently, Division Two reached the same conclusion in *In re Detention of Taylor-Rose*, 199 Wn. App. 866, 875-76,

² The statute was recently recodified. The bracketed edits reflect the current version of the statute.

401 P.3d 357 (2017), review denied, 189 Wn.2d 1039, 409 P.3d 1070 (2018). There, the court rejected a challenge to the same jury instructions used in this case. See Taylor-Rose, 199 Wn. App. at 874. In doing so, it expressly agreed with the analysis in Coppin. Id. at 876. It reaffirmed, "A crime that is expressly listed in the definition of 'sexually violent offense' in RCW 71.09.020([18]) necessarily also qualifies as a 'crime of sexual violence." Id. Accordingly, the jury instructions accurately stated the law. Id. Division Two again confirmed this holding in the unpublished decision In re Detention of Canty, 7 Wn. App. 2d 1044, 2019 WL 624737 at *10-11 (Wash. Ct. App. Feb. 13, 2019) (unpublished).³

The decision in this case follows those established decisions. The Court of Appeals expressly agreed with *Coppin* and *Taylor-Rose* that the terms "crime of sexual violence" and "sexually violent offense" are "synonymous." Slip op. at 10 n. 8.

³ This case is cited in accordance with GR 14.1.

Thus, it properly concluded that Instruction No. 4, which identified Rape of a Child in the First Degree as a "crime of sexual violence," was an accurate statement of the law, not an improper comment on the evidence. *Id.* Rape of a Child in the First Degree is a crime that the legislature expressly identified as a "sexually violent offense" and thus, it necessarily also qualifies as a "crime of sexual violence." RCW 71.09.020(18); *Coppin*, 157 Wn. App. at 553-54; *Taylor-Rose*, 199 Wn. App. at 875-76. Further, the instruction did not remove an element from the jury's consideration, as the jury was still required to find that the State proved the fact of the conviction itself.

Smith argues that this Court should accept review of this case under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4) because it involves constitutional questions and issues of public interest, namely, the interpretation of the civil commitment statute and the constitutionality of pattern jury instructions. Pet. for Review at 15. But as just discussed, multiple decisions have already rejected the same arguments presented in this case. Smith

completely ignores *Coppin*, *Taylor-Rose*, and *Canty* in his petition for review, and he thus fails to show that those decisions are incorrect or that this Court should upend settled law on this issue.

2. Concluding that the terms have different meanings would lead to absurd results

Smith argues that the legislature intended to differentiate between the terms "sexually violent offense" and "crime of sexual violence" and that the trial court improperly conflated the two. Pet. for Review at 9-11. He claims that the term "sexually violent offense"—which is defined in RCW 71.09.020(18)—is utilized for screening cases, establishing jurisdiction, and triggering notice to the prosecuting attorney. *Id.* at 10. And he claims that the term "crime of sexual violence"—which is not defined in the statute—applies at trial and requires the jury to make a factual determination about the nature of the offense. *Id.* at 11.

This Court should reject Smith's arguments because they are inconsistent with controlling principles of statutory

construction, which require courts to take into account the context of the entire statute, harmonize related provisions, and avoid absurd results. *State v. Gray*, 189 Wn.2d 334, 340, 402 P.3d 254 (2017); *US West Commc'ns, Inc. v. Wash. Util.* & *Transp. Comm'n*, 134 Wn.2d 74, 118, 949 P.2d 1337 (1997); *Morris v. Blaker*, 118 Wn.2d 133, 143, 821 P.2d 482 (1992).

As explained in *Coppin* and *Taylor-Rose*, there is no material difference between the terms "violent" and "violence" in chapter 71.09 RCW. *Coppin*, 157 Wn. App. at 553; *Taylor-Rose*, 199 Wn. App. at 875-76. To harmonize related provisions and avoid absurd results, these terms must be construed as interchangeable. A conclusion that the term "sexually violent offense" is not synonymous with the term "crime of sexual violence" would mean that offenses that the legislature expressly identified as sexually violent offenses as a matter of law do not necessarily qualify as "crimes of sexual violence." This would be an absurd, hyper-technical interpretation of the statute that is directly contrary to legislative intent.

Such a conclusion would also mean that a term critical to the jury's inquiry is not defined by statute. This is inconsistent with the statutory scheme because every other material term considered by the jury was defined by the legislature. See RCW 71.09.020(9) (defining "mental abnormality"); RCW 71.0 9.020(10) (defining "personality disorder"); RCW 71.09.020(8) (defining "likely to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence if not confined in facility"); secure RCW 71.09.020(11) (defining "predatory"); RCW 71.09.020(1 7) (defining "secure facility"). Smith attempts to remedy this problem by asserting that courts would "have discretion to fashion an appropriate definition" of the term "crime of sexual violence." Pet. for Review at 11 n. 4. But that could result in inconsistent definitions being applied in civil commitment proceedings across the state. And given the significant liberty interests at stake, it would be absurd to conclude that the legislature intended such an amorphous legal standard.

Further, giving courts discretion to fashion an appropriate definition could actually *expand* the reach of the statute. The definition of "sexually violent offense" is narrow and necessarily limits the type of offenses that the State can rely upon at trial to show that the person "has been convicted of or charged with a crime of sexual violence." RCW 71.09.020(19); RCW 71.09.06 0(1). Under Smith's interpretation, however, the jury could consider an even *broader* array of offenses to satisfy this element, as nothing in the plain language of the statute limits the jury's inquiry to the "predicate offense" as claimed by Smith. *See* RCW 71.09.020(19); Pet. for Review at 11.

Lastly, treating these terms as distinct would remove from the jury's consideration altogether whether the person was charged with or convicted of a "sexually violent offense," which is a requirement for filing a sexually violent predator petition. See RCW 71.09.030. But it makes no sense to conclude that the legislature intended to impose different requirements for *filing* a petition and for *proving* a petition at trial, and a conclusion to the contrary fails to take into account the context of the entire statute.

3. The record affirmatively shows that no prejudice could have resulted

Finally, contrary to Smith's assertion otherwise, even if the jury instruction amounted to an improper comment on the evidence, the error would not require reversal.

As this Court has explained, a judicial comment on the evidence is presumed prejudicial and the State bears the burden of showing the absence of prejudice, "unless the record affirmatively shows that no prejudice could have resulted." *Levy*, 156 Wn.2d at 725. "The State makes this showing when, without the erroneous comment, no one could realistically conclude that the element was not met." *State v. Boss*, 167 Wn.2d 710, 721, 223 P.3d 506 (2009).

Here, the record affirmatively shows that no prejudice could have resulted from the court's instruction because no one could realistically conclude that the first element was not met.

For one, Smith readily admitted that he committed the offense of

Rape of a Child in the First Degree and that he was convicted. CP at 510. Moreover, as the Court of Appeals recognized, the "factual details surrounding Smith's underlying offense permeated the SVP trial, including Smith's own testimony that he held down a three-year-old, covered her mouth, and forcibly raped her with his penis" for ten to fifteen minutes. Slip op. at 15; see also CP at 510-13. Smith's offense was "a horrific act" and "[a] person of common understanding would conclude that this act caused the victim extreme pain and terror." Slip op. at 16. In light of the overwhelming and undisputed evidence presented at trial, it is inconceivable that anyone could reasonably conclude that that the forcible rape of a small child would be anything but a "crime of sexual violence."

///

///

///

///

///

V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should deny Smith's petition for review.

This document contains 4192 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.